# MANITOBA STANDARDS MANUAL FOR WOMEN'S SHELTERS

September 2014

Developed by the Family Violence Prevention Program and Manitoba's Women's Shelters

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	2
Introduction: Women's Shelter Program	6
Program Overview	6
Development of Standards	7
Service Purchase Agreements	7
Quality Assurance	8
Effects of Non-Adherence	9
Use of the Manual	9
Manual Development	9
Definitions	11
Part 1: Shelter Governance and Administration	12
1.1 Incorporation and By-Laws	12
1.1.1 Service Provider Identifying Information	13
1.1.2 Notification of Changes	13
1.1.3 Shelter Incorporation	13
1.1.4 Registration Renewals	13
1.1.5 Shelter By-Laws	13
1.1.6 Annual Reports	13
1.2 Shelter Boards	13
1.2.1 Board Membership and Composition	14
1.2.2 Board Orientation and Training	14
1.2.3 Accountability and Delegation	14
1.2.4 Conflict of Interest	14
1.3 Organizational Development	14
1.3.1 Mission Statement	15
1.3.2 Goals and Objectives	15
1.3.3 Operational Planning	15
1.3.4 Organizational Structure	16
1.3.5 Staff Recruitment and Hiring	16

1.3.6 Human Resource Management	16
1.3.7 Labour Management Agreements	16
1.3.8 Position Descriptions	16
1.3.9 Fair Employment Practices	16
1.4 Financial Management	16
1.4.1 Service Purchase Agreement	17
1.4.2 Financial Controls and Reporting	17
1.4.3 Statistical Reports - Units of Service	18
1.4.4 Per Diem, Fee Waiver and Special Needs Invoices	18
1.5 Administrative and Client Records Management	18
1.5.1 Record Storage and Access	18
1.5.2 Record Retention and Destruction	18
1.5.3 Client Record Contents	18
1.5.4 Client Record Maintenance	19
1.5.5 Confidentiality of Client Records	19
1.5.6 Client Access to Records	19
1.6 Physical Facilities	19
1.6.1 Adherence to Legislation and Regulations	19
1.6.2 Local Codes and By-Laws	19
1.6.3 Annual Fire Inspection	19
1.6.4 Annual Housing Inspection	20
1.6.5 Shelter Facility Security	20
Part 2: Shelter Services	20
2.1 Protection of Rights	21
2.1.1 Human Rights	21
2.1.2 Right to Service	21
2.1.3 Right to Privacy	21
2.1.4 Consent to Release Information	21
2.1.5 Right to Appeal - Client Complaints	21
2.1.6 Right to Services with Sensitivity	22
2.1.7 Information / Crisis Line Privacy Protection	22

2.	2 Client Safety and Health	. 22
	2.2.1 Confidentiality and Safety of Admitted Clients	. 22
	2.2.2 Threats to Safety	. 22
	2.2.3 Supervision and Safety of Children	. 22
	2.2.4 Preferred Child Care Practices	. 23
	2.2.5 Parental Permission for Children's Outings	. 23
	2.2.6 Parental Permission for Children's Counselling	. 23
	2.2.7 Child and Family Services and Women's Shelters Protocol	. 23
	2.2.8 Children in Need of Protection	. 23
	2.2.9 Medication Storage and Access	. 23
	2.2.10 Communicable Diseases and Parasites	. 23
	2.2.11 Fire Safety Plan	. 24
	2.2.12 Critical Incidents	. 24
	2.2.13 Outings and Failure to Return	. 24
	2.2.14 Interruption of Services	. 25
	2.2.15 Technology and Safety	. 25
	2.2.16 Health and Safety of Clients with Allergies	. 25
2.	3 Admission Criteria and Process	. 25
	2.3.1 Admission Criteria	. 25
	2.3.2 Non-Admitted Clients.	. 26
	2.3.3 Intake and Assessment	. 26
	2.3.4 Intake and Assessment for Children	. 26
	2.3.5 Safekeeping of Client Belongings	. 27
	2.3.6 Shelter to Shelter Transfer	. 27
2.	4 Shelter Services and Resources	. 27
	2.4.1 Residential Care	. 27
	2.4.2 Client-Centred Planning	. 27
	2.4.3 Crisis Intervention Counselling	. 27
	2.4.4 Individual Counselling Services	. 28
	2.4.5 Support Groups	. 28
	2.4.6 Children's Counselling	. 28

2.4.7 Follow-Up Services	28
2.4.8 Withdrawal of Services	28
2.4.9 Information / Crisis Telephone Lines	28
2.5 Service Evaluation	28
2.5.1 Client Evaluation of Service	28
APPENDIX A: EMPLOYMENT AND INCOME ASSISTANCE INFORMATION SHEET	29
APPENDIX B: LIST OF LEGISLATION, REGULATIONS, CODES AND BY-LAW FOR PHYSICAL FACILITIES	
APPENDIX C: CFS-SHELTER PROTOCOLS	35
APPENDIX D: CRITICAL INCIDENT REPORTING PROCEDURES AND FORM.	40
ADDENDIY E. CHELTED TO CHELTED TO ANCEED	15

# **Introduction: Women's Shelter Program**

This section provides an overview of the Women's Shelter Program. It contains information about the program, the development of standards, funding agreements and quality assurance activities.

# **Program Overview**

The Women's Shelter Program in Manitoba began in the late 1970's and continues to take a leadership role in Canada in the field of services for abused women.

# **Background Information**

In 1984, the Government of Manitoba assigned responsibility for the funding and coordination of services for abused women to the Department of Community (Family) Services.

The Family Violence Prevention Program (FVPP) was created in 1985. The mandate of the Program was to promote the elimination of intimate partner violence through the development and support of a continuum of community-based services. In November 2012, the mandate of the program was expanded to include those who experience abuse by family members who are not intimate partners.

FVPP provides policy and program direction to services for women, their children and men affected by family violence, and is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the quality of these services and ensuring accountability in the use of public funds allocated to agencies delivering programs in this field.

#### Program Purpose

The purpose of the Women's Shelter Program is to offer protection and a full range of support services for abused women and their children, and to provide abused women with opportunities to learn of available resources and alternatives to facilitate informed personal choices and decisions.

# **Program Description**

Women's shelters provide emergency accommodation for abused women and their children on a 24 hour basis, seven days a week. Access to shelter is universal regardless of the financial resources available to the individual. Support services include:

- crisis intervention
- emotional support
- · individual and group counselling
- information and referral
- essential transportation
- food and shelter
- child care
- follow-up

Many shelters also act as developmental resources in such areas as:

- recruitment and training of volunteers
- providing community education
- facilitating awareness workshops for personnel from other disciplines
- participating in or conducting research

## Departmental Funding

The Department of Family Services funds basic needs and emergency services according to guidelines issued by Employment and Income Assistance (EIA) (found in the online EIA Administrative Manual at http://www.gov.mb.ca/jec/eia/admin\_manual/9.html).

These needs and services may include:

- food and accommodation
- personal incidentals
- medication
- emergency transportation to and from shelters
- special needs

The Department also allocates funds through FVPP for the following services:

- administration
- crisis intervention
- children's support
- follow-up
- crisis telephone lines

The Department also funds shelters for facility management.

# **Development of Standards**

The development of standards was prompted by the belief, shared by the Department and the shelter community, that standards are necessary to ensure the qualitative evolution of services for abused women. FVPP began the process of developing standards in consultation and partnership with the Manitoba Association of Women's Shelters Inc. (MAWS). This process is consistent with a department-wide initiative to develop standards for all service areas.

# **Service Purchase Agreements**

The Department of Family Services requires Service Purchase Agreements (SPAs) with community-based non-profit agencies receiving public monies.

The general purpose of these agreements is to clarify and formalize the relationship between external agencies and the Manitoba Government through defining the rights, responsibilities and expectations of each party.

# **Quality Assurance**

FVPP uses the following accountability measures to ensure adherence with established expectations and standards:

- agency adherence reviews; and
- program consultations.

#### Agency Adherence Reviews

FVPP will conduct an agency adherence review (AAR) every second year, unless there are changes to the standards manual that require updating of agency policy and procedures. FVPP will endeavour to contact agencies at least four weeks prior to a site visit for the purpose of an AAR. Once a date is set, FVPP will provide written confirmation to the agency. FVPP may request a complete copy of the agency's policies and procedures prior to the review to facilitate the process.

The review may include but is not limited to one or more of the following:

- examining agency policies and procedures, financial statements, and other documents required by the standards;
- engaging in discussions with service personnel to determine their knowledge of the standards and agency policies;
- touring the service provider's premises; and
- where applicable, examining permits and other documents issued to service providers pursuant to any federal, provincial or municipal regulations or by-laws.

#### **Program Consultations**

FVPP will conduct an agency program consultation (APC) every second year. FVPP will endeavour to contact agencies at least four weeks prior to a site visit for the purpose of an APC. Once a date is set, FVPP will provide written confirmation to the agency. During this consultation, FVPP may interview members of the board, the director, counsellors and / or other staff persons. The areas of discussion include but are not limited to the following:

- agency board operations;
- community relationships;
- operational and strategic planning;
- client evaluations;
- human resource management;
- counselling services; and
- collaboration with collateral agencies.

# **Effects of Non-Adherence**

Where there is evidence of non-adherence to the SPA and standards, FVPP may undertake one or more of the following steps:

- negotiate terms and conditions with service providers to re-establish adherence;
- request in writing that the service provider initiate negotiated remedial measures within a specified period of time;
- initiate a service review and / or funding audit and evaluation;
- issue monthly, rather than quarterly grant payments;
- negotiate revised reporting requirements as part of an existing SPA;
- suspend or terminate an existing SPA and enter into a time-limited agreement determined by FVPP; or
- suspend or terminate an existing SPA and decline to enter into a new one.

# **Use of the Manual**

This section provides information about the development of this manual, its content and structure, and distribution and maintenance procedures. Comments on the development of the manual include a statement of its purpose and objectives.

# **Manual Development**

This manual outlines minimum requirements for all Women's Shelters in receipt of public funds in the form of core grants allocated by the Department of Family Services. It contains standards both the shelters and the Department believe are appropriate for governance, administration, facilities and services.

#### **Purpose and Objectives**

The public demands high quality services and accountability in the delivery of social services. The purpose of standards for shelters is to ensure the delivery of quality services to clients while recognizing and respecting the autonomy of these agencies.

The development of this manual addresses the demand for quality services through the following objectives:

- Program direction to assist agencies and others in the management and operation of shelter services.
- A comprehensive set of standards in one manual to use in staff and Board orientation and training.
- A manual readily accessible to staff in shelters, Board members, the Department and other organizations.
- A statement of minimum expectations for program planning by shelters and the Department and for communication with the public.
- A statement of provincial requirements to be used in quality assurance activities by shelters and the Department.
- Clarification of authority, responsibility and accountability within and between shelters and the Department.

# Standards, Policies and Guidelines

The standards set out minimum requirements for the operation of women's shelters. Applicable provincial policies and guidelines are stated, or referred to, in the text or in specific standards. The manual appendices include these policy statements and guidelines in their entirety.

#### Distribution and Maintenance

This manual is a public document. It is distributed to all shelters and may also be distributed to other organizations requesting information on program standards, and is available on the FVPP web site.

Manual holders are encouraged to identify concerns and make suggestions for improving or revising the manual by writing or contacting:

Director
Family Violence Prevention Program
Manitoba Family Services
4126 – 300 Carlton Street
Winnipeg MB R3B 2K6
Telephone: 204-945-1709

E-mail: fvpp@gov.mb.ca

# **Definitions**

This section defines key terms used throughout the manual.

#### Abused woman

is any woman who identifies herself as having been physically, psychologically, emotionally, financially or sexually abused by an intimate partner or other family member.

## Accompaniment and Practical Support

involves accompanying and providing practical support for women who are attempting or planning to access other resources.

#### Agency

refers to a shelter receiving core funds from the Department, and, in this document, is used interchangeably with the term Service Provider.

#### **Board**

is the community volunteers duly elected as the governing body of the agency and, in this document, is used interchangeably with the term Organization.

#### Child Witness

is a child who lives with a person who has been abused by an intimate partner or other family member.

#### Client

is any person who has been admitted to any service offered by a shelter.

#### Department

is the Department of Family Services.

#### Family Violence

is actual or threatened physical or sexual violence, and / or psychological, emotional, and financial abuse directed toward a family member. It includes intimate partner abuse, as well as abuse that is directed to others in a family relationship, such as so-called honour-based violence. Intimate partners may be of the opposite or same sex. Some of the common terms used to describe intimate partner abuse are domestic abuse, spouse abuse, domestic violence and battering.

#### Honour-Based Violence

is where a person is being punished by their family or community for actually or allegedly undermining what they believe to be the correct code of behaviour. By not conforming it may be perceived that the person may have brought shame or dishonour to the family. This type of violence can be distinguished from other forms of violence, as it is often committed with some degree of approval and / or collusion from the family and / or community.

#### **Policy**

is a general plan of action adopted by the Department or an agency in relation to operations or service goals; a formalized statement describing the guiding principle or philosophy adopted by a service provider in relation to a specific Standard.

# **Principle**

is a comprehensive and fundamental law, doctrine, value or assumption; a rule or code of conduct or service.

#### **Procedure**

is a mode of performing a task or way of carrying out an activity; in the context of "policy and procedures", the method and manner by which the policy will be implemented; preferred or required practices.

#### Standard

is a minimum level of performance expressed in precise measurable terms; a mandatory requirement used as a basis for review or audit; a concise statement of expectations requiring adherence to clearly defined practices or procedures, and resulting in measurable outputs or outcomes.

## Trans (or transgendered or transidentified)

includes transsexuals and other variations and combinations of gender identity and expression. Trans is an umbrella term that embraces people who cross socially constructed gender boundaries with a gender identity, presentation or behaviour not typically associated with their perceived, actual or biological sex. People who describe themselves as trans may not feel, look, dress or behave in a way expected of women (or men) in their culture. Please note: It may be sexual harassment to ask questions about intimate physical details (e.g., Have you had surgery?). (Definition adapted from: Trans Inclusion Policy for Women's Organizations, Darke and Cope for the Women / Trans Dialogue Planning Committee and the Trans Alliance Society, Winter 2002).

# Part 1: Shelter Governance and Administration

Part 1 of the manual articulates standards related to governance and administration. Many provisions in this section of the manual are reflective of the reporting requirements for all agencies receiving public monies through the Department. Established in 2006, the Financial Reporting Requirements (FRR) replace the Agency Reporting Requirements and summarize the information agencies are requested to provide and the time lines for reporting.

The FRR can be found on the Department's web site at http://www.gov.mb.ca/fs/about/frr.html.

# 1.1 Incorporation and By-Laws

This section contains standards related to shelter incorporation and by-laws. Manitoba policies require that shelter organizations receiving funding from the province have legal status as non-profit entities under *The Corporations Act*.

The FRR is referenced as applicable.

#### 1.1.1 Service Provider Identifying Information

Shelters maintain service provider identifying information as outlined in the FRR.

# 1.1.2 Notification of Changes

The board notifies FVPP in writing within 14 working days of any changes in organizational structure, service provider contact information, board membership or senior staff positions.

#### 1.1.3 Shelter Incorporation

Shelters are incorporated as non-profit organizations under *The Corporations Act*. Each shelter provides FVPP with a copy of the original "Articles of Incorporation" and the corporation bylaws.

# 1.1.4 Registration Renewals

Shelters renew their registrations annually and within the prescribed time with the Companies Office.

#### 1.1.5 Shelter By-Laws

Shelter by-laws comply with *The Corporations Act* and regulations and are consistent with provincial legislation and policies relevant to shelter operations and services.

Copies of consolidated by-laws are forwarded to FVPP upon request and amendments must be submitted as part of each year's Service Provider Identifying Information. Any changes should indicate the date of approval by the membership.

#### 1.1.6 Annual Reports

The board submits a copy of the Annual Report (see the FRR for detailed information requirements).

#### 1.2 Shelter Boards

This section contains standards related to the organization and function of boards of directors, and to conflict of interest.

The board of directors is independently incorporated as the legal entity with authority to govern the agency. The board is ultimately responsible for the operations and management of the shelter. The by-laws provide a framework within which the board meets its management obligations to develop internal policies in matters such as finances and budgeting, fundraising, personnel management, program development and public relations. The board involves the shelter director and staff in the planning and development of services and programs.

The manual entitled *The Roles, Responsibilities and Functions of a Board*, developed by the Department of Family Services and Labour, is an excellent resource and reference guide.

#### 1.2.1 Board Membership and Composition

The by-laws of the organization define the requirements for the election of board members, board size and composition, committees of the board, and the roles and responsibilities of members and officers in governing the agency.

#### 1.2.2 Board Orientation and Training

The organization has written policies and procedures for the orientation of new board members and annual training for all board members.

## 1.2.3 Accountability and Delegation

The board delegates authority for specific matters related to the daily operation of the program and the implementation of policies to the director, consistent with the director's position description.

The shelter director attends board meetings in an advisory capacity and as a non-voting member.

# 1.2.4 Conflict of Interest

The board and staff adhere to the Conflict of Interest Policy and Guidelines in the SPA.

# 1.3 Organizational Development

This section contains information and standards related to strategic and operational planning within the context of service goals and objectives.

This section also includes standards related to personnel policies and labour management agreements.

#### Strategic Planning

Strategic Planning is an important management practice that results in a written plan setting out the long-term direction for the agency. Planning occurs through a collaborative effort, led by the board of directors and actively involving the agency director and staff. A strategic plan may look ahead three to five years.

A strategic planning process usually includes:

- an environmental scan identifying key internal and external issues, needs, opportunities, or problems facing the agency;
- a review of the agency's vision and mission statements; and
- the identification and prioritization of goals and key strategies.

#### **Operational Planning**

Operational planning enables the board and staff of the agency to convert the strategic plan into a shorter term plan that focuses on the day-to-day operation of the agency. An operational plan usually looks ahead one year.

In order to meet the reporting requirements of the Department, reference to the Schedules of the SPA is essential to the process. Each Schedule or cost centre describes the required service activities and expected outcomes of those activities. From this framework, the agency can plan its service activities, define any resource needs and / or adjustments and then attach a cost.

An operational plan usually includes:

- a ranked list of program and operational objectives for the fiscal period;
- a description of desired outcomes for each objective, their measurement criteria, and performance indicators to form the basis for consistent reporting systems;
- a list of all activities and tasks necessary to achieve operational objectives and produce the desired outcomes;
- the identification of the resources assigned to the activities and tasks, and the individuals
  who are responsible and accountable for the successful completion of the activities and
  tasks;
- a costing of associated staff and other resources needed to accomplish each activity or task (a detailed budget); and
- the time frames or completion dates for developmental tasks or projects.
- to facilitate reporting, operational plans may include a column that reports on the progress on each objective and is updated throughout the year.

# 1.3.1 Mission Statement

The organization has a written mission statement that identifies the client group to be served and articulates the overall purpose of the agency.

#### 1.3.2 Goals and Objectives

The organization has written statements of service goals and objectives. These goals and objectives are stated in measurable terms and identify the programs and services to be provided, and are consistent with the organization's SPA with the Department.

## 1.3.3 Operational Planning

The board, in collaboration with agency staff, formally conducts an annual planning process for the coming fiscal year, and develops written strategies based on identified program and financial needs and priorities. The operational plan is submitted with the Service Provider Identifying Information (as per the FRR).

## 1.3.4 Organizational Structure

The board maintains a current organizational chart showing the structure of the organization and setting out the relationships between the board, committees of the board, the director, shelter staff and volunteers (as per the FRR).

# 1.3.5 Staff Recruitment and Hiring

The organization has written policies defining the recruitment and screening procedures for all potential employees and volunteers, including Board members. Screening includes a criminal record check (including Vulnerable Sector Verification), a child abuse registry check, and an adult abuse registry check. In addition, the organization has a policy defining the number of years after which every employee's criminal record and child abuse registry check should be updated.

## 1.3.6 Human Resource Management

The organization has written personnel policies that outline expectations of personnel, including a code of conduct, working conditions, staff training, labour management relations where applicable, benefits and entitlements, grievance procedures, and disciplinary procedures.

These policies are readily accessible to all employees and are part of the orientation of new employees at the point of hiring.

#### 1.3.7 Labour Management Agreements

In organizations where a formal labour contract or collective agreement is in place, a copy is provided to FVPP upon ratification or request.

#### 1.3.8 Position Descriptions

The organization develops and keeps current written position descriptions defining the duties and responsibilities of each employee. A copy is provided to FVPP upon request.

## 1.3.9 Fair Employment Practices

The organization complies with applicable federal and provincial laws and regulations governing fair employment practices and contractual relationships with staff.

# 1.4 Financial Management

The standards in this section reflect financial controls and procedures for shelters receiving core funding from the Department.

#### The Budget Process

The financial viability of the agency depends on the budgeting process to establish direct correlation between service planning and delivery, and committed financial resources. The control of agency finances is maintained through collaborative efforts of the board of directors and management staff, with the board having ultimate responsibility.

The budget process is an opportunity to ensure that the services that the board has agreed are essential are provided within the funds available. The outcome of the budget process is compatible with the terms outlined in the SPA signed by the agency and the Department.

The budget process is an opportunity to accomplish the following:

- compile a list of programs and activities;
- determine the costs associated with each program and activity;
- determine the revenues that are, or can be, realistically expected;
- compare costs and revenues;
- set priorities based on client and administrative needs and costs, and the availability of funds; and
- balance, monitor and adjust the budget, so that a financial deficit is not incurred.

#### **Budget Documents**

Budget documents provide a written record of the budget process and include the following components (see the FRR for details):

- a balanced annual operating bBudget presenting the budget for the current year, the proposed budget, the variance between these two budget years as well as an explanation of significant variances;
- a budgeted staffing report reconciled to the budget; and
- the board Chairperson's signature.

The board ensures that planning flows from the agency's mission statement and that budget documents reflect the overall goals and purpose of the organization.

#### 1.4.1 Service Purchase Agreement

The board of directors and the Department have a current and duly signed SPA.

#### 1.4.2 Financial Controls and Reporting

The agency maintains financial statements and records in accordance with the FRR.

The agency employs acceptable accounting practices, and maintains financial statements and records in accordance with relevant legislation.

#### 1.4.3 Statistical Reports - Units of Service

Statistical reports are compiled on the prescribed form and enumerate units of service in each program area funded by FVPP.

The agency submits monthly statistical reports to FVPP by the 30<sup>th</sup> day of the month following the period being reported.

#### 1.4.4 Per Diem, Fee Waiver and Special Needs Invoices

The agency completes and submits per diem, fee waiver and special needs invoices to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator on a monthly basis. Billings for each client listed on the invoice are accompanied by receipts for allowable expenses.

# 1.5 Administrative and Client Records Management

This section contains standards concerning the management of both administrative and client service records.

#### 1.5.1 Record Storage and Access

The organization develops, implements and updates as needed policy and procedures intended to ensure that records, including those of persons interviewed but not admitted to the program, are protected from loss and unauthorized removal or access. This standard applies to both paper and electronic records.

#### 1.5.2 Record Retention and Destruction

The organization has written policies and procedures that reflect the requirements of Appendix 2 of the SPA, as well as section 8.04 of the SPA, which states that records are to be preserved and available for seven years following the end of the fiscal year to which the record pertains.

#### 1.5.3 Client Record Contents

The organization has written policies that the shelter maintainsone record for each client (parent and child) admitted for services. The record includes, at a minimum:

- the completed intake and assessment form;
- the completed "short needs form", where applicable;
- the service plan;
- case notes outlining the client's expressed needs, services provided by the shelter and by other resources;
- documentation of requests for other agency involvement, including written consent forms;
- documentation of outcomes of service; and
- a departure interview form.

Where a service record does not contain a completed departure interview form, the designated shelter worker notes the circumstances of the client at departure.

#### 1.5.4 Client Record Maintenance

The organization has a policy that shelter staff keep the record current for each client from the point of intake to termination of services. All case notes are initialled and dated by the author, and, in accordance with standard 2.1.3, are shared with shelter personnel on a need to know basis only.

## 1.5.5 Confidentiality of Client Records

The organization has written policies and procedures stating that client records, including paper and electronic records, are:

- stored in a secure manner;
- strictly confidential;
- the property of the agency; and
- only disclosed to other parties with the informed and written consent of the client who is the subject of the record or in accordance with the law.

#### 1.5.6 Client Access to Records

The organization has written policies and procedures ensuring that clients have clearly defined right of access to their record, except where precluded by law (for example, in a child abuse situation), the right to request corrections to personal information and are informed of these rights (as per Appendix 2 of the SPA). It must be made clear that in all situations, the file remains the property of the agency, and is only reviewed in the presence of agency staff.

# 1.6 Physical Facilities

The organization operates and maintains the physical facility in accordance with minimum health and safety standards as set out by other departments or levels of government.

# 1.6.1 Adherence to Legislation and Regulations

The organization ensures that its premises and equipment conform to all applicable health, safety, building and fire codes, by-laws, regulations and legislation (see Appendix B).

#### 1.6.2 Local Codes and By-Laws

The shelter adheres to local codes and/or by-laws.

#### 1.6.3 Annual Fire Inspection

The organization requests and undergoes an annual fire safety inspection done by a local fire authority. The organization is required to forward the final report to FVPP within three days of its receipt.

#### 1.6.4 Annual Housing Inspection

The organization undergoes a housing facility / maintenance inspection with Manitoba Housing annually.

#### 1.6.5 Shelter Facility Security

The organization is responsible for ensuring security equipment is in good working order. If equipment is in need of maintenance, repair or replacement, the agency contacts an External Agency Coordinator to discuss. If the EAC authorizes the maintenance, repair, or replacement, the agency sources a company to complete the work and pays the invoice. The agency can then submit a copy of the invoice along with an original signed letter requesting reimbursement from FVPP.

Urgent shelter facility security requirements are to be immediately communicated to the local Manitoba Housing office either by direct dial or utilizing the Manitoba Housing automated maintenance request system at 1-800-661-4663 (1-800-661-HOME).

# Part 2: Shelter Services

#### Introduction

Part 2 of the manual articulates standards related to shelter services. Major sections in Part 2 include Protection of Rights, Client Safety and Health, Admission Criteria and Process, Shelter Services and Resources, and Service Evaluation.

Shelter organizations are encouraged to refer to their current SPA for additional information on service activities and expected outcomes.

# Service Principles

The Women's Shelter program is founded on the following service principles:

- Women should not be forced to remain in a violent or abusive environment due to the lack of safe alternatives.
- Women have a right to be informed of alternatives and to make self-determined choices within the context of their own life situation.
- Women have a right to receive services which are sensitive to and respect their cultural and linguistic heritage, religious beliefs and sexual orientation.
- Services designed for child witnesses to family violence are developmentally appropriate.
- Children are entitled to receive shelter services.
- Services are provided in a supportive, non-judgemental environment.

- Services are provided in a manner that respects client confidentiality and the right to privacy.
- Women and children are entitled to be informed of their rights.

# 2.1 Protection of Rights

This section contains standards related to the rights of shelter clients.

# 2.1.1 Human Rights

The agency has a written policy stating that shelter services are extended to all women and their children who are victims of abuse as defined in the introduction to the manual regardless of age, race, faith, socio-economic status, physical or mental capabilities or sexual orientation. This policy also applies to transgendered women and their children.

# 2.1.2 Right to Service

The agency has a written policy stating that shelter services are accessible on a voluntary basis and are free of charge.

# 2.1.3 Right to Privacy

The agency has a written policy statement defining the client's right to privacy. This policy should include but is not limited to the following measures:

- depending on the expressed preference of the client, private space or offices are available
  for interviewing or counselling at intake and throughout the duration of the woman's
  stay; and
- information concerning clients is shared among shelter personnel on a need-to-know basis only (see also standard 1.5.5 on client confidentiality and standard 2.2.1 on client safety).

## 2.1.4 Consent to Release Information

The agency has a written policy and procedures stating that information recorded or known about a client will not be shared with outside agencies without the written consent of the client. Exceptions to this must be shared with the client at the time of intake and include legislated reporting requirements, Court order, medical crisis, or when a client presents as a serious risk to others or self. Written consent of the client should be time limited and indicate with whom the information may be shared.

# 2.1.5 Right to Appeal - Client Complaints

The organization has written procedures that guarantee clients the right to register a complaint regarding any aspect of services received in shelter and the right to have the complaint heard in an impartial forum.

Shelter staff provide the written Right to Appeal procedures to clients within 48 hours following intake, and ensure that the client understands the meaning of, and process for, appeal.

The Right to Appeal procedures clearly outline the steps to be taken and include the Right to Appeal to the board of directors.

# 2.1.6 Right to Services with Sensitivity

The organization has written policies that ensure that women and their children can receive services that are sensitive to, and respect, their cultural and linguistic heritage, religious beliefs and sexual orientation.

#### 2.1.7 Information / Crisis Line Privacy Protection

The agency has a policy in place to protect the anonymity of callers to the crisis line.

# 2.2 Client Safety and Health

This section contains standards related to client safety and child protection. For easy reference, the <u>Revised Manitoba Guidelines on Identifying and Reporting a Child in Need of Protection</u>, as well as a map indicating the division of the province by <u>Designated Intake and Emergency After-Hours Agencies</u> can be found on the Department website.

# 2.2.1 Confidentiality and Safety of Admitted Clients

The shelter has a written policy intended to protect client confidentiality and ensure client safety upon admission. The policy includes that shelter staff do not confirm admission or disclose the whereabouts of a woman and her children admitted to the shelter to any person except when required to disclose due to legislation, judicial order or medical crisis. The policy also articulates the procedure for cooperating with police inquiries.

## 2.2.2 Threats to Safety

The shelter has written policies and procedures to be used when shelter staff or clients have received threats or there is concern for their safety.

#### 2.2.3 Supervision and Safety of Children

The shelter has written policies and procedures to ensure the supervision and safety of children when the mother or guardian of those children is not on the premises.

The written procedures are given to women with children at the point of intake and are explained during the orientation.

#### 2.2.4 Preferred Child Care Practices

The shelter has written policies and procedures outlining preferred child care practices for shelter staff and clients, including child disciplinary methods.

#### 2.2.5 Parental Permission for Children's Outings

The shelter has written policies and procedures that staff have to obtain a mother's or guardian's written permission for her children to attend a shelter-sponsored outing without her being present at the outing.

## 2.2.6 Parental Permission for Children's Counselling

The shelter has written policies and procedures that staff have to obtain a mother's or guardian's written permission before her children participate in any counselling activities.

## 2.2.7 Child and Family Services and Women's Shelters Protocol

The shelter follows the Protocols between Child and Family Service Authority Agencies and Women's Shelters in Manitoba (see Appendix C)

#### 2.2.8 Children in Need of Protection

The shelter has a written policy and procedures requiring staff to report suspected cases of children in need of protection to a CFS agency, notwithstanding that the information on which the belief is founded is confidential.

Except in rare circumstances, which are left to the discretion of management, it is the practice of the shelter to discuss with the mother the exact nature of the concerns prior to contacting a CFS agency. Where deemed appropriate and provided there is no breach of the law, the mother is given the opportunity to report the information to CFS on her own volition. The shelter will follow up with CFS.

Shelter staff record the date and time of the identification or disclosure of suspected abuse or neglect, and the date and time of the report to CFS on the client's file. The shelter staff responsible for the report signs the client's file.

## 2.2.9 Medication Storage and Access

The shelter has a written policy and procedures to ensure the safe storage of clients' medication and indicate how clients access medication. Shelter staff keep records of the medication dispensed to clients.

#### 2.2.10 Communicable Diseases and Parasites

A) The shelter has a written policy outlining infection prevention and control procedures and practices to be followed to prevent the spread of communicable disease in the facility. Communicable diseases are spread by different routes of transmission from one person to another.

These routes include:

- direct or indirect contact, which is person to person or contaminated object to person contact;
- common vehicle transmission which includes contaminated food, blood, etc;
- airborne transmission which occurs through the air; and
- vectorborne which occurs through insects.

These infections can be transmitted by individuals showing signs and symptoms of the infection as well as others that are infected but do not show any signs and symptoms. Therefore there are routine infection prevention and control measures that should be practiced at all times to prevent infection transmission although there may be specific measures that will vary depending on the condition or infectious disease. All of these practices are outlined in the Manitoba Health and Healthy Living and Seniors Infection Control Guidelines for Community Shelters and Group Homes: http://www.gov.mb.ca/health/publichealth/cdc/fs/infcontshelter.pdf

B) The shelter has a written policy outlining prevention and control procedures and practices to be followed to prevent the spread of parasites in the facility. Parasites include but are not limited to bedbugs, lice, and scabies. The following website provides information on bedbugs and contact information for Manitoba Housing on this topic: <a href="http://www.gov.mb.ca/bedbugs/index.html">http://www.gov.mb.ca/bedbugs/index.html</a>.

#### 2.2.11 Fire Safety Plan

As building owner, Manitoba Housing has developed a Fire Safety Plan for each shelter. Plans are located in a locked box at each shelter. Shelters are required to follow the Fire Safety Plan developed by Manitoba Housing. Shelter staff orient all clients during intake about the Fire Safety Plan and evacuation procedures. Evacuation procedures must be posted in highly visible locations.

#### 2.2.12 Critical Incidents

The shelter has a written policy on reporting critical incidents. In the event of a critical incident, the service provider will inform FVPP and the Chair or designated board member within 24 hours.

The service provider must submit a Critical Incident Report (Appendix D) to FVPP within seven working days of the incident.

#### 2.2.13 Outings and Failure to Return

The shelter has a written policy and procedures regarding clients leaving the shelter for outings, appointments, etc. without agency accompaniment and what to do if a client fails to return by the designated time.

The policy / procedures include the following components:

- personalized protection planning is done with clients prior to their first outing;
- the procedures regarding outings and failure to return from outings are discussed with clients prior to their first outing;
- staff ensure information is recorded regarding the client's destination(s), telephone number if available, and expected time of return, which is signed by the client; and
- failures to return are noted in client files.

# 2.2.14 Interruption of Services

The organization has a written policy to develop and update a Board-approved plan to address interruption of services due to unanticipated emergencies.

Please refer to the following link for information on emergency planning: <a href="http://www.gov.mb.ca/emo/">http://www.gov.mb.ca/emo/</a>.

#### 2.2.15 Technology and Safety

The organization has a written policy that addresses the safe use of technology by staff and clients.

# 2.2.16 Health and Safety of Clients with Allergies

The agency has a written policy to protect clients who have allergies to food, scent, etc. This policy will include the identification of clients with allergies upon admission and a procedure to ensure their health and safety while on the agency's premises. Procedures may include creating individual health and safety plans that include both preventative measures to help avoid accidental exposure to allergens and emergency measures in case of exposure.

# 2.3 Admission Criteria and Process

#### 2.3.1 Admission Criteria

Shelter services are designed specifically for women (and their children) who have been abused by intimate partners or other family members. Following this, women (and their children) seeking support for dealing with family violence should be admitted. However, there may be circumstances where shelters accept women who are assessed as being at risk for reasons other than family violence.

Exceptions to admission may include:

 women assessed by shelter staff as being at imminent risk and needing alternative intervention services due to indicators such as serious mental disturbance or chronic chemical dependency; and • women under the influence of alcohol or drugs who, in the opinion of shelter staff, present a risk to other women and children in residence.

The shelter has a policy that specifies what to do when the shelter is full. Generally, the first plan of action should be to refer and transfer the woman to another shelter to ensure that she is accommodated in a safe and secure location; the second option would be to place the woman, or another lower risk resident, in a hotel or motel. Safety issues and risk factors should inform the choice of accommodation selected.

Shelters typically have a room designated as an accessibility room. Women (and their families) who may cause distress to other shelter clients are admitted and accommodated in the shelter accessibility room or in a hotel.

#### 2.3.2 Non-Admitted Clients

If a woman does not fit the admission criteria, or fits the exceptions to admission outlined above, the shelter:

- conducts an assessment with the woman;
- refers her to other resources; and
- assists her in assessing these resources, if available.

#### 2.3.3 Intake and Assessment

Intake at shelters is available on a 24 hour basis, seven days a week.

The shelter has a written policy and procedure describing the intake and assessment process. The process requires the use of a structured intake form and the completion of the "short needs form".

The information collected on the "short needs form" does not, under any circumstances, affect eligibility for shelter services.

Shelter staff follow and complete the intake and assessment process for every abused woman and her child/ren seeking services from the shelter in the residential, non-residential, or follow-up programs.

#### 2.3.4 Intake and Assessment for Children

The agency has written policies and procedures which state that:

- Where admitted children are receiving basic residential services only, shelter staff collect required information from the accompanying adult. The information remains on the adult's file.
- Shelter staff complete the intake and assessment process for every child admitted to the children's counselling program.

#### 2.3.5 Safekeeping of Client Belongings

The shelter has a written policy defining its role and responsibility in the safekeeping of client belongings. The policy is communicated to the client at admission.

#### 2.3.6 Shelter to Shelter Transfer

When transferring a client to another facility, communication with the receiving shelter should be consistent with the Shelter To Shelter Transfer Form (Appendix E).

## 2.4 Shelter Services and Resources

This section begins with a list of key service components of the shelter program, funded by the Department.

#### Core Support Services

- information / crisis telephone lines
- intake and assessment
- crisis counselling
- individual and group counselling
- children's support and counselling
- information, referral and advocacy
- protection planning
- departure planning

#### Follow-Up Services

- intake and assessment
- individual and group counselling
- on-going protection planning as needed
- information, referral and advocacy

# 2.4.1 Residential Care

The shelter has written policies and procedures with regard to meeting clients' basic needs through the provision of safe accommodation, meals, emergency clothing, personal hygiene supplies, laundry facilities, and safe transportation (See Appendix A).

#### 2.4.2 Client-Centred Planning

The agency has a policy on client-centred planning. Shelter staff and the client develop a plan that clearly identifies the client's expectations of counselling services, the goals, ways to meet those goals, and measure their achievement.

# 2.4.3 Crisis Intervention Counselling

The agency has a policy that clients receive crisis intervention counselling as needed.

#### 2.4.4 Individual Counselling Services

The agency has a policy that residential and non-residential clients receive individual counselling.

The policy also states that the shelter provides women in the residential program with an opportunity to receive a minimum of one hour of individual counselling in a 24-hour period.

# 2.4.5 Support Groups

The agency has a policy that shelter staff facilitate support groups for residential and non-residential clients.

## 2.4.6 Children's Counselling

The agency has a policy that a designated children's counsellor provides individual counselling and group programs for children.

#### 2.4.7 Follow-Up Services

The agency has a policy that the shelter provides follow-up services including individual counselling and support groups for former residential clients of the shelter.

# 2.4.8 Withdrawal of Services

The agency has a written policy and procedures that clearly state the circumstances under which staff would not support a client's extension of stay in shelter, and the circumstances under which a client may be asked to leave the shelter.

The policy and procedures are explained to each client on an as-needed basis. Consistent with standard 2.1.5, each client should be advised of her right to appeal.

#### 2.4.9 Information / Crisis Telephone Lines

The shelter ensures that information / crisis lines are available and accessible on a 24 hour basis.

## 2.5 Service Evaluation

## 2.5.1 Client Evaluation of Service

The organization has a written policy and procedure to provide a written evaluation form to each client at departure, and to review these evaluations on a regular basis.

# APPENDIX A: EMPLOYMENT AND INCOME ASSISTANCE INFORMATION SHEET

#### APPLICATION FOR CRISIS SHELTER SERVICES

Crisis facility staff complete the Crisis Shelter Emergency Assistance Request (otherwise known as the 'short form application') for persons who are requesting assistance to stay at their facility. The information required includes: name, birth date, social insurance number, sex, provincial health card information, Treaty Band name and number, financial resources immediately available, current address and reason for shelter service.

Individuals requesting shelter assistance that do not fit the mandate of the crisis shelters should be referred to their community EIA office during business hours or After Hours Emergency Services (AHES) at:

- 204-945-0183 Winnipeg
- 1-866-559-6778 outside of Winnipeg

EIA staff will review each application to determine eligibility under *The Employment and Income Assistance Act* and in accordance with EIA policies on assessing resources, needs and payment considerations.

#### **Health Needs**

EIA Health Services provides coverage for essential drug, dental and optical supplies and services for eligible clients and children. Individuals with alternative health coverage (e.g. FNIHB for treaty status or Manitoba Blue Cross) are not eligible for EIA Health Services benefits.

## Drugs

Once fully enrolled on EIA, individuals may take their prescriptions to a pharmacy and advise the pharmacist that they are on EIA benefits and provide their Manitoba Health card and / or nine-digit Personal Health Information Number (PHIN). Individuals who are not able to attend the pharmacy may call in their prescriptions to the pharmacy and relay the information regarding their enrolment on assistance and their PHIN. The prescription may then be picked up or delivered by a third party.

In situations where shelters must directly pay for prescriptions, shelter staff may submit the prescription receipt to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator for reimbursement.

#### **Dental**

EIA clients accessing shelter services will continue to receive the same dental benefits as all clients of the EIA program. The waiting period for dental care for single parents is 3 months, and the waiting period for single adults with no children is 6 months.

Emergency dental care for EIA clients consists of the treatment and relief of pain. It does not cover restorative treatment. Requests for emergency dental treatment may be forwarded to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator.

#### **Optical**

EIA clients accessing shelter services will continue to receive the same optical services as all clients of the EIA program. The waiting period for optical care for single parents is 3 months and the waiting period for single adults with no children is 6 months.

Emergency coverage for all EIA clients may be provided in situations where a prescription has significantly changed. Where an individual makes a request for replacement frames or new eyeglasses, and is not eligible under the EIA program, she may choose to pay for replacement glasses / frames with any available resources / savings. Where glasses have been damaged as a result of a domestic dispute, she may be eligible for replacement eyeglasses through Victim Services. Requests for emergency optical treatment may be forwarded to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator.

#### **Special Needs**

#### School Supplies

Families residing in crisis shelters are <u>not</u> eligible to receive EIA funds for school supplies until they leave the shelter. In situations where the family is enrolled on the EIA program after leaving the shelter, EIA case coordinators may issue assistance for school supplies at the age appropriate guidelines.

# **Household Needs**

EIA reviews requests for household needs (e.g. furniture, beds and bedding) on a case-by-case basis, prior to leaving the crisis shelter. Washing machines may be requested from the EIA case coordinator after leaving the shelter. Funds to purchase a washing machine are only provided under special circumstances, such as a disability that prevents the family from going to the Laundromat, or living in an area where Laundromats are not available.

#### Household Locks

The costs of changing or strengthening locks on an existing residence may be approved for persons accessing shelter facilities, who are eligible for EIA.

#### **Transportation**

Transportation to the crisis shelter, to and from medical and legal appointments, and from the crisis shelter to a residence in the community, or anywhere in Manitoba, may be approved by the least expensive mode of transportation that is available in situations, provided the safety of the client is not a concern. Approval should be requested during regular business hours (Monday to Friday, 8:00 am to 4:00 pm) by fax at 204-948-4702.

Bus tickets are provided to the shelters by EIA, to assist clients with searching for housing and for attending legal and medical appointments. Where shelters choose to provide transportation for other reasons, the funding may come from other resources, such as fund raising and private donations.

In most situations, where public transportation is available, taxi service will not be approved as a method of transportation. Once a person has returned home or moved to a new accommodation, public transportation will often be required to purchase groceries, go to children's schools, attend errands, etc. In situations where a client is considered high risk, and the request for a taxi is being made because of this, EIA may request further details regarding the safety plan, including the planned ongoing method of transportation.

In situations where individuals were financially independent prior to utilizing shelter services, and where they will not require EIA after exiting the shelter, individuals may choose to use their personal resources to pay for transportation.

EIA does not provide funds for transportation where existing alternative resources for transportation are in place (e.g. a client is traveling to a medical appointment that is related to a car accident where Manitoba Public Insurance covers the transportation costs). Transportation requests for out-of-province travel must be referred to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator for consideration. Transportation requests for air fare, train fare, bus fare and fuel allowances involving a move for a client with or without children may be approved for shelter to shelter transfers in province or shelter to shelter transfers out of province. The mileage rates are 20 cents south of the 53<sup>rd</sup> parallel and 22 cents north of the 53<sup>rd</sup> parallel.

For shelter to shelter transportation requests, the appropriate client centered planning is required and any requests for transportation should indicate high risk where appropriate. In high risk situations, the crisis facility should call the local police to provide assistance in facilitating safe transportation.

NOTE: the only time transportation would be reimbursed without prior approval would be to transport a client with or without children from a northern / remote community where immediate safety is an issue and arrangements cannot wait for the next business day. As approval cannot be acquired in the evenings, on weekends or holidays, the agency is responsible to follow-up for post-approval on the next regular business day.

Prior to the agency arranging transportation, the shelter MUST ensure it has the client's (and children's, if applicable) complete name, date of birth and social insurance number in order to be reimbursed. The short form application always needs to be provided to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator, whether signed or not.

#### **Shelter to Shelter Referrals**

In situations where a client is being moved from a federally funded shelter to a provincial shelter, the client is eligible for the full 30 days in the provincial shelter, so as to provide adequate time to stabilize in a new community. However, the time spent in the federally funded shelter may be considered in a situation where there is a request for extension of the client's stay.

#### **Case Plans**

EIA staff may need to request that shelter staff provide relevant details of a client's case plan / safety plan / exit plan. Questions are limited to situations where EIA staff require further information related to financial eligibility and level of benefits (e.g., employment status, number of children), in order to make an informed decision on the case. Privacy laws, and the absence of an information sharing agreement, prevent EIA staff from providing information regarding clients and / or their previous history to shelter staff.

Shelter staff should anticipate that questions may be asked by EIA staff. However, the information should not require further preparation as the case plan / safety plan / exit plan would have already been developed and the shelter staff will only be asked to relay the information.

## **Requests for Extension of Shelter Stay**

As a general rule, extensions beyond 30 days may be requested under three circumstances:

- 1. The client has not secured a safe living arrangement. It may be that a woman is unable to relocate, secure housing or assume possession of a new residence within a 30-day timeframe.
- 2. There is an outstanding safety concern such as a lack of a protection plan or the client requires legal assistance before leaving the residential program.
- 3. A client's situation is not sufficiently stabilized. Specifically, EIA considers cases where the physical / emotional needs of a client delay crisis counselling, or a woman needs more time to establish a support network and / or secure financial support.

To assist EIA in making a determination for the extension, provide all <u>relevant</u> information about the woman's case plan / safety plan / exit plan on the request for extension of stay form.

Procedures for completion of extension of stay forms:

- Complete the request for extension of stay form in its entirety, ensuring all the information at the top of the form and part 1 is filled out.
- In outlining the case plan (section F, part 1), refer to the actions required to stabilize the client's situation or to support the protection plan, and provide an estimate of the time needed to complete this work. If relevant, include details about other agency involvement, outstanding needs, and medical concerns.
- A request for an extension of stay beyond 30 days should be made on the 21<sup>st</sup> day of the client's stay. The form is to be forwarded (fax preferred at 204-948-4702) to EIA for review. EIA will contact the agency to either (a) ask for further clarification, or (b) return a decision. If an extension request is modified or rejected, EIA will provide specific reasons based on current EIA policy.

NOTE: Any changes in a client's circumstances that would affect an agreed upon extension should be reported to EIA immediately.

- If the agency is not in agreement with EIA's decision, the procedure to follow is to:
  - 1. Contact EIA to discuss the rationale for the decision.
  - 2. If this does not resolve the issue, contact the External Agency Coordinator (EAC) at the Family Violence Prevention Program (FVPP). The EAC will review the decision with EIA and discuss the outcome with the agency.
  - 3. Appeal the decision to the Director of FVPP. FVPP Director will consult with senior officials in EIA and will discuss the resulting decision with the agency.

The EIA program is committed to and appreciates the open flow of communication concerning EIA policies with each of the provincial shelters and the Manitoba Association of Women's Shelters. Further questions may be addressed to the Crisis Shelter Liaison Coordinator at 204-948-4096.

Revised January 31, 2013

# APPENDIX B: LIST OF LEGISLATION, REGULATIONS, CODES AND BY-LAWS FOR PHYSICAL FACILITIES

The Buildings and Mobile Homes Act

The Manitoba Building Code

The Fire Prevention Act

City of Winnipeg By-Laws

Sanitation Regulations:

Reg. 325/88-P210 Reg. 328/88-P210

Dwellings and Buildings Regulation:

Reg. 322/88-P210

City of Winnipeg Maintenance and Occupancy By-Law No. 763/74

City of Winnipeg Untidy and Unsightly Premises By-Law No. 762/74

City of Winnipeg Food Services By-Law No. 2920/81

Province Wide Legislation and Regulations

Sanitation Regulations:

Reg. 325/88-P210 Reg. 328/88-P210

**Dwellings and Buildings Regulation** 

Reg. 322/88-P210

The Environment Act

Manitoba Regulation (Food and Food Handling)

Reg. 339/88-P210

Workplace Safety and Health Act

# APPENDIX C: CFS-SHELTER PROTOCOLS

# PROTOCOLS BETWEEN CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICE AUTHORITY AGENCIES AND WOMEN'S SHELTERS IN MANITOBA

Approved October 6, 2009

The Department of Family Services and Housing has worked with the CFS Authorities and women's shelters to clarify their working relationships. These guidelines are a product of the joint working group including representatives from the CFS Authorities, Women's Shelters, Child Protection and Family Violence Prevention Program. The purpose of the mutually agreed upon protocols is to clarify the working relationship between all parties in matters of child protection.

# Services Provided by Women's Shelters

Women's shelters offer safe accommodation for abused women and their children. While in shelter, clients receive counseling, protection planning, information and referral, as well as support services. Counselors at shelters provide counseling to clients. Follow up services for women who have left abusive relationships are also available. The very nature of abuse against women necessitates that services be voluntary. Women are supported to make informed decisions about their lives. Limited counseling support is also available for children who accompany their mother to shelter services.

# Services Provided by CFS Authority Agencies

Manitoba's child and family service agencies mandated by the four CFS Authorities have a legal responsibility for the protection of children. Child protection services are intended to protect children within the context of their family and community, unless to do so would place the child at risk of further abuse or neglect. Agency intervention to protect a child must always be balanced with the needs of the child for a continuous family relationship. Any intervention strategy will reflect respect for the rights of all concerned to be involved in decisions which affect their lives, to the extent possible under the circumstances.

#### Admission Into Shelter

Admission into shelter must be truly voluntary on the part of the woman. If a child and family service agency is involved with a woman currently experiencing domestic violence, the use of shelter may be an option. This option, which provides protection for herself and her children, must be presented as one of a number of options for her consideration. CFS Agencies must appropriately advise women of their choices. As part of the process of presenting options for the woman's consideration, it is appropriate for the agency to explain the services available at the shelter, the relationship between spousal abuse and child abuse, and, any action the agency may have to take dependent on her decisions. If the woman chooses to enter shelter, consultation with the shelter would be appropriate to facilitate the coordination of services to both the woman and her children.

#### Care of Children in Shelter

While in the women's shelter, the mother has primary responsibility for the daily care of her children. Where staffing permits, the shelter will provide care for the children, on a planned basis, for short periods of time when necessary to allow the mother to attend counseling appointments or personal business (such as medical or legal appointments). Limited children's counseling support is available with the mother's signed consent.

#### Planned Absences

Where staffing permits, the shelter can provide care to the children when the mother needs to be absent for a brief period of time in order to attend appointments (such as medical or legal appointments). These arrangements must be made between the woman and the shelter prior to her absence. If the woman does not return at the agreed upon time, the shelter will then consider the woman to be on an unplanned absence, as per each shelter's policy.

# **Unplanned Absences**

Unplanned absence is anytime the mother is absent from the shelter without having made prior arrangements with the shelter for care of her children. This includes those occasions when the woman does not return to shelter at the agreed upon time. The shelter will consult with the appropriate child and family service agency as soon as shelter staff have determined that the mother is absent without agreed upon arrangements and child protection concerns become evident. An appropriate care plan for children under the age of sixteen will be made. CFS agency and shelter will work out most appropriate arrangements based on staffing availability and needs of the children.

#### Shelter Assessment Process

On occasion, children in shelter may be observed to be in need of protection. The shelter assessment process and staff observations during a child's stay at the shelter can help shelter staff identify a child who may be in need of protection. Staff record observations on a form which may be used as a basis for discussion between shelter and CFS staff as well as a written record of concerns. Care should be taken to document observations only and not the observer's interpretation of observations. Documentation should also include the context from which the observation was made. All documentation should contain the date, time, name and signature of the observer. Any statement made by a child to a shelter employee or volunteer should be recorded in the child's own words. Staff should consult with the shelter director and their local case worker before conducting any further action. Documentation should be kept to track all case proceedings. Shelter staff are not expected to monitor parenting, at CFS' request, in order to substantiate evidence when a child may be in need of protection.

#### Disclosure of Child Protection Issues

Where a staff has information that leads the person to reasonably believe that a child is or might be in need of protection because an act or omission which is neglectful and / or physically, sexually, or emotionally abusive in nature, the shelter staff is obliged to report the information to the local agency as specified in the <a href="Revised Manitoba Guidelines on Identifying and Reporting a Child in Need of Protection">Revised Manitoba Guidelines on Identifying and Reporting a Child in Need of Protection</a> (August 2001) (see attached) and as per Subsection 18 of the Child and Family Services Act.

To report suspected child protection issues, contact your designated intake agency.

# **Confidentiality**

In general, knowledge of a suspected case of a child in need of protection must be kept strictly confidential, as per subsection 76 of the Child and Family Services Act. No one but persons required to know should be given any information. Suspected cases should not be discussed with persons outside the shelter or with any of the residents. All clients will routinely be asked for permission to share information and / or be informed that information will be shared and with whom. Release of information forms will be completed as required. However, where there is believed to be a child in need of protection, permission to release information is not required. Reports of suspected protection concerns received by CFS are confidential. The identity of the reporting person shall not be disclosed to the family of the child except as may be required in the course of a judicial proceeding.

# **Information Sharing**

In certain situations, CFS and shelters may need to share information regarding clients with each other. When a CFS staff requests information, shelters should first call the CFS agency and confirm the staff person's status, regardless of urgent time constraints. Once the status is confirmed, then shelter staff should share only that information which is requested or which will assist with identifying if the child is in need of protection or if the provision of services is required. This could include the residency of the client in shelter or the date of departure and intended location of residency.

# Service Quality

Both shelters and CFS collect information for education, planning and service quality purposes. Shelters and CFS agree that service output indicators include the number of women and children referred to CFS from shelters, the number of children referred to CFS from shelters that are found to be in need of protection, and the number of times CFS caseworkers respond to shelter requests (particularly in shelter). For quality assurance purposes, shelters and CFS will develop a mutually agreed upon process to debrief on difficult cases. The objective of this process is to help shelters and CFS agencies identify what "went right or wrong" in a specific case, what lessons can be learned, and what best practices can be used in the future.

#### **Designated Placements**

When exceptional circumstances exist (i.e. where no other safe accommodations are available), shelters can be used as a short term solution of last resort. The placement of children in shelters should not be greater than 48 hours unless approved by the CFS agency and Shelter Director. Shelter staff are not expected to supervise or monitor children while in shelter for a designated placement. Compensation from CFS to the shelter is to be at FVPP's rate, and a CFS support worker must be provided for placements when children require additional care and supervision because of age or need. Shelters should have a policy that further delineates the process to be followed in these circumstances. Emergency placements are voluntary on the part of the shelter, and a request for placement may be denied based on the capacity of the shelter, and the potential risks that may arise due to the acceptance of a CFS placement.

#### Custody Visits

On occasion, children in care will attend the shelter for overnight custodial visits with their mothers. Shelters should be made aware of this process to ensure adequate staffing. CFS shall be responsible for providing per diem funds when children in care visit the shelter.

#### **Independent Youth**

An independent youth is defined as a child between 16 and 18 years of age who is living independently and is not in the care of an agency or another adult. The independent youth may also have children. Employment and Income Assistance (EIA) does not generally provide per diem funding for youth ages 16-18 at shelter to deal with issues of intimate partner violence. However, EIA will assess each case on an individual basis and per diem funding will be provided in those cases deemed appropriate.

# Apprehension of Children from Mother in Shelter

When there is a need under the Child and Family Services Act to apprehend a child/ren while residing in a women's crisis shelter, CFS staff and shelter staff share the responsibility to ensure the process is conducted in a manner that is professional, sensitive and respectful of the shelter clients, staff, and the child(ren) that are to be brought into care. CFS staff attending the shelter must have adequate identification which may include a photo ID card and business card for leaving with the client / staff OR a telephone number where a supervisor can verify their status with the agency.

It is the responsibility of the CFS agency representative to notify the shelter staff as soon as possible prior to the apprehension taking place. If a parent is not at the shelter at the time of apprehension, the CFS staff will use other means to contact the parent and inform them of the apprehension.

In some cases, a parent may be told that if they leave the shelter with their child/ren, and the child/ren are deemed to be in need of protection, then the child/ren will be apprehended. In these cases, shelter staff must call the CFS staff representative or after hours line immediately following the client leaving the shelter.

Shelter staff will support the caregiver after the removal of the child/ren.

#### **Training**

Shelters and CFS agency workers agree joint training in the area of family violence and the use of the family violence protocols is a significant success factor in ensuring consistent service quality to vulnerable women and children, and stronger relationships between shelters and CFS agencies. Mutual training opportunities will be sought.

## Dispute Resolution Process

Disagreements between the shelter and the CFS agencies and / or Authority should be resolved in a timely manner, and in accordance with the policy manual of each entity. Each shelter and CFS agency will jointly develop a dispute resolution mechanism.

All parties acknowledge that due to the short timeframes that clients are residing in the shelter and based on the urgency of the issue, early resolution between professionals is critical.

# Review and Amend Provisions

A committee with representation from the shelters, the CFS Authorities, Child Protection, and Family Violence Prevention Program will review this guide on an annual basis and amend it as required.

# APPENDIX D: CRITICAL INCIDENT REPORTING PROCEDURES AND FORM

#### INTRODUCTION

Along with other reporting requirements between agencies and FVPP, Critical Incident reporting provides both parties with an effective means of monitoring the appropriateness and quality of their service delivery. It also allows for the ongoing review of service provider practices, procedures, and training needs.

As such, FVPP requires that agencies, funded to provide services to abused women and their families, report all critical incidents within 24 hours. In addition, service providers are required to submit a Critical Incident Report. The following procedures include descriptions of roles and responsibilities, a reporting template, and the steps required to promote a consistent approach to Critical Incident reporting and related follow-up actions.

#### **DEFINITION**

Critical incidents to be reported by the service provider to FVPP are defined as follows:

- Any death of a client which occurs while participating in a service<sup>1</sup>.
- Any serious injury to a client which occurs while participating in a service, including:
  - o any injury caused by the service provider;
  - o a serious accidental injury received while in attendance at a service provider setting, and / or in receiving service from the service provider; or
  - o an injury to a client which is non-accidental, including self-inflicted, or unexplained, and which requires treatment by a medical practitioner, including a nurse or dentist.
- Any alleged abuse<sup>2</sup> or mistreatment of a client, which occurs while participating in a service. This includes all allegations of abuse or mistreatment of clients against staff or volunteers.
- Any situation where a client is missing and the service provider considers the matter to be serious.
- Any disaster, such as a fire, on the premises where a service is provided.
- Any complaint made by, or about, a client, or any other Critical Incident concerning a client that is considered by the service provider to be of a serious nature.
- Any event that caused a substantial damage of equipment or facilities.

<sup>1</sup> In the event of death, a medical examiner must also be notified.

<sup>2</sup> Abuse includes physical harm, sexual molestation or exploitation, not providing medical treatment when required, and psychological, verbal, emotional, financial abuse or mistreatment.

**Note:** Within the parameters of the preceding definitions, the service provider is responsible for determining whether an incident is a Critical Incident as defined by these procedures and whether, therefore, it should be reported to FVPP. As a general rule, when in doubt whether an event is a Critical Incident or not, agencies are advised to discuss it with their External Agency Coordinator.

#### REQUIREMENTS

#### **Instruction of Staff**

Service providers are expected to develop internal policies for instructing staff regarding critical incidents. At a minimum, these policies must address:

- the identification of critical incidents;
- the immediate response procedures to a critical incident; and
- the expected steps in reporting a critical incident.

#### Critical Incident Response – Immediate Actions by Service Provider

Actions to be taken, if a critical incident has occurred or is suspected, include the following:

- The client will be provided with immediate medical attention when warranted.
- Appropriate steps will be taken to address any continuing risks to the client's health or safety. (The need for the same or similar steps to address the health and safety of other clients should also be considered, as appropriate.)
- Ensure that the local medical examiner is notified immediately in all cases involving
  death, regardless of location (e.g. hospital) or circumstances (e.g. "Do Not Resuscitate"
  order was in effect, or death not considered questionable).
- The staff or any other person witnessing, or having knowledge of the occurrence, will
  report the matter to the person designated by the service provider to conduct Critical
  Incident inquiries.
- The designated person will immediately begin a Critical Incident inquiry in accordance with the following steps. The purpose of the inquiry is to gather information regarding the actual or alleged occurrence(s).
- All persons having knowledge of the occurrence will be asked to remain on the premises
  until the designated person has interviewed them or indicated that there is no need for
  their involvement at that point.

The information gathered by the designated person will form the basis of the Critical Incident Report Form.

If, on the basis of the inquiry, there is reason to suspect that a client has been abused (and / or in need of protection, in the case of a child), the designated person shall ensure immediate contact with police and / or Child & Family Services as appropriate in the case of a child. (Note: It is the

person who has reasonable grounds to suspect that a child is or may be in need of protection who is legally obligated to make a report to the CFS.)

## **Reporting Process – Within 24 Hours**

The service provider will inform FVPP and the Chair or designated board member within 24 hours when a Critical Incident has taken place.

# Reporting Process – Within Seven (7) Days

After the initial notification to FVPP, the written Critical Incident Report, signed by a designated service provider, must be submitted to FVPP within seven working days. The report shall identify any clients involved by their first name and the first initial of their last name. Any other party should be referenced in as non-identifying terms as possible (e.g. first and last initials only, staff A / staff B, etc.)

**Note:** The primary focus of the Critical Incident Report is the record of service provider actions from an accountability perspective (i.e. were the actions taken appropriate, complete, consistent with legislation / policy, etc.). However, it is possible that not all desired information can be obtained, or incident review / follow-up actions completed, within the required seven-day period.

As such, service providers are requested to always submit the Critical Incident Report within the seven-day period, even if they have incomplete information and / or actions that have yet to be completed. In such cases, an explanation should be included, along with a clear indication that a supplementary follow-up report to FVPP will be forthcoming.

Upon reviewing the Critical Incident Report, FVPP may request additional information or a further review by the service provider of the incident. The service provider is then expected to submit any related follow-up or outcome report(s) to FVPP in accordance with approved timelines. If required, FVPP may also initiate its own, or other departmental reviews.

#### **Ongoing Monitoring**

The service provider is expected to monitor the agency's performance on an ongoing basis with respect to the reporting, management, and follow-up of critical incidents.

CRITICAL INCIDENT STEI	PS SUMMARY
Immediate actions	Address health & safety of client(s)  Notify medical examiner for any death; police or CFS as applicable; family and / or others as appropriate  Conduct Critical Incident inquiry
Within 24 hours	Notify FVPP
Within 7 days	Submit Critical Incident Report to FVPP
Following submission of Critical Incident Report	Provide follow-up review(s) and information updates to FVPP as requested
Ongoing	Monitor Critical Incident related issues / trends and conduct follow-up actions in a timely manner

# CRITICAL INCIDENT REPORT

^					
Agency	Address				
Director / Senior staff	Telephone Number				
Board Chair	Date & Time of Occurrence		Date & time information received by person completing report		
Name of person(s) involved (First name & initial of surname)	Age	Type of s	erious occurrence		
Staff member in-charge at the time of the incident			[] serious injury		
		[] alleged at	buse / maltreatment		
Chair / designated member []	Vritten Rpt Date	[] missing person			
FVPP [] Other: []	[]	[] disaster o	n premises		
		[] Other			
Description of the Critical Incident (attaches Please print legibly	ch details)		_		
What happened? (Who, what, where, w	hen, why, & how. Include names of staff who wer	e involved or	who witnessed the incident.)		
			·		
When was the incident reported? To wh	nom? By whom? Time of call? Response time? (i.	e. Police, eme	ergency services, doctor, etc.)		
Action taken:					
Action taken.					
Current status / Condition:					
Current status / Continuori.					
Further immediate, or future action proposed (include measures taken or planned to prevent similar incidents in the future):					
The state of the s					
Is this expected to be the only / last rep	ort submitted for this occurrence? [] Yes [] No				
Report completed by:		Date	Time		
		report completed			
(Printed name)	(Signature)	Completed			
To be completed by the Family Violence Prevention Program					
Date FVPP notified:	Time	Written repo	ort received:		
Assigned to: Further service provider action required [] Yes [] No Further FVPP action required [] Yes [] No					
Briefing / Advisory Note written [] Yes [] No					
Explain current status and additional action to be taken:					
EV/DD Signature		Doto			
Township Data Santonship 2014		Date			

Template Date September 2014

# APPENDIX E: SHELTER TO SHELTER TRANSFER

Manitoba Association of Women's Shelters (MAWS) - October 2012

#### SHELTER TO SHELTER TRANSFER FORM

The following steps are to be taken to ensure a smooth transition for clients between shelters.

- Shelter requesting transfer and the receiving shelter must have an initial conversation about the transfer.
- Client that is transferring must speak to receiving shelter staff.
- Client transfer paperwork must be complete and faxed by the shelter requesting the transfer to the receiving shelter.
- Transport request and shelter to shelter transfer documents must be faxed to EIA by the shelter requesting the transfer. Authorization prior to faxing is based on individual shelter policy.

#### SHELTER TO SHELTER RELEASE OF INFORMATION AUTHORIZATION

I,		hereby authorize	
		to release the follo	owing information to:
(Shelter from which the Clients is being	g transferred)		
(Name of Shelter to which Client is being	ng transferred)		
(Address of Shelter)			
Phone Number			
Staff Contact at receiving shelter			
(Client Signature)	(Date)		
Release of information will be effective from:		period	
CLIENT INFORMATION			
Name	DOB		
History of Shelter Stays (circle one):	No Histo	ry Some History	Long History

Protection order against cu	rrent pai	tner? (circle one)	Yes No Pen	ding
Identification (circle one):				
Provincial Health Card	Treaty Status Card		Provincial	Driver's Licence
Liquor Commission Photo ID Card	Provincial Photo ID		Passport	
Other				
Health Concerns	_			
Allergies / Special Dietary N	Needs _			
Financial Support (circle or	ne)			
EIA Band Ass	sist	Disability Assist	Employed	Other
Other Needs				
Reason for Transfer				
Client's Support System				
Intimate Partner Informati	on:			
Name				
DOB		Whereat	oouts	
<b>Brief Physical Description</b>				
Has Partner had any charg	es agains	t him? (Circle one)	)	
Yes	No	,	Other	
Other important information	\n			

# **Client's Children Accompanying Client:**

Name	Age	Date of Birth	Who has Custody?	Health / Medical Concerns?	CFS / DOCFS? Or other Comments

Names and DOB and whereabouts of children <u>not</u> accompanying Client:				
Safety Plan for Tran				
Mode of Transportation	on			
Time Departing		Estimated Time of Arrival:		
Does Client have pho Transfer Shelter? (Cir		rs and money for pay phone for departing shelter and		
YES	NO			
Client's Safety Plan				

Transferring Staff	
Director's Initials if required	
Date	